# COUNCIL

Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on Wednesday, 21 February 2024 in the Council Chamber - Council Offices at 6.00 pm

Members Present: Cllr T Adams Cllr M Batey

Cllr L Vickers

Cllr K Bayes Cllr H Blathwayt Cllr J Boyle Cllr A Brown Cllr G Bull Cllr S Bütikofer Cllr C Cushing Cllr N Dixon Cllr P Fisher Cllr A Fitch-Tillett Cllr T FitzPatrick Cllr M Hankins Cllr P Heinrich Cllr C Heinink Cllr V Holliday Cllr R Macdonald Cllr G Mancini-Boyle Cllr P Neatherway Cllr S Penfold Cllr P Porter Cllr J Punchard Cllr C Ringer Cllr L Shires Cllr R Sims Cllr E Spagnola Cllr M Taylor Cllr J Toye Cllr K Toye Cllr E Vardv Cllr A Varley

Officers in attendance:

The Chief Executive, S151 Officer, Monitoring Officer, Director for Communities, Director for Place & Climate Change, Assistant Director for Planning, Democratic Services & Governance Officer

Cllr L Withington

### 110 MINUTES SILENCE

The Chairman opened the meeting with the sad news of the death of former councillor, Peter Moore. He had been a Planning Officer at the Council and had worked on the proposals for the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). He was also a passionate Union representative. He was an elected member for North Norfolk District Council from 2003 to 2019 and was also a member of the County Council. In addition to serving on Cabinet, Peter was Chairman of the Council for six months, taking over from John Perry-Warnes.

The Chairman asked all members to observe one minutes silence in memory of Peter.

### 111 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Cllrs D Birch, P Bailey, W Fredericks, N Housden, L Paterson and E Spagnola.

## 112 MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 20 December 2023 were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. Five members abstained.

## 113 TO RECEIVE DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS FROM MEMBERS

None received.

### 114 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS

None.

# 115 CHAIRMAN'S COMMUNICATIONS

The Chairman spoke about recent civic events she had attended:

- 25 January A Royal Patron visit by HRH The Princess Royal to the National Coastwatch, Cromer
- 26 January Holocaust Memorial Day Service
- 14 February the opening of Kings Lynn Mart Fair

### 116 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Leader, Cllr Adams, began by thanking officers and members for their work in preparing the Budget for 2024/2025.

He then spoke about the new banking hub in Holt, which would be the first in Norfolk and thanked the Council's Data Analyst for the research they had undertaken which had provided the evidence in support of having a hub in Holt. He said that he was hopeful more hubs would come forward in the future.

He spoke about the Coastwise drop-in events which had been a huge success. Moving onto empty homes, the Leader said that £100k of income had been generated by bringing properties back into use, including two long term empty properties.

He reminded members that it was the 50<sup>th</sup> anniversary of North Norfolk District Council and the sector as a whole was seeing some of the most significant challenges for a generation, including the impact of the housing crisis. It was heartening to see the sector come together to address some of these issues, adding that he hoped that as a general election approached, the local government sector could see a reset of relation with central government.

### 117 PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND STATEMENTS

The Chairman invited Susan Parry to speak. Mrs Parry said that she was a resident of Fakenham and owned a rental property in Newman's Court which was behind 9 Norwich Street. On the hoarding which was now in front of the dilapidated building of 9 Norwich Street, it stated 'NNDC working for Fakenham'. She questioned whether this was the case. In September 2019, the already crumbling property developed a serious crack across its frontage. In October 2021, NNDC served an urgent works notice. In May 2022, full height scaffolding was erected and in early 2023, a wrap was put around the building with pictures of historic Fakenham on the front. Then, in the autumn of 2023, NNDC said that a decision would be reached on the way forward by the end of the year. She said that the carbuncle remained in the centre of the town and although it was not of the Council's making, its solution lay entirely in NNDC's hands. She said that from where she stood, NNDC was not currently working for Fakenham. She thanked Cllr Vickers for her support.

The Chairman then invited Ms V Strangways-Booth to speak. She began by saying that she owned Venetia's Yarn Shop which was directly opposite the derelict site of 9 Norwich Street, Fakenham. She urged the Council to try and resolve the situation as soon as possible. The scaffolding filled the view from her shop and it looked

terrible. In addition, it was dangerous as people had to step into the road to walk past it. She said that behind the hoarding there was a huge amount of rubbish which attracted rats and pigeons. Ms Strangways-Booth went onto say that the centre of Fakenham was slowly dying shop by shop and no business would come to a dying town centre. It no longer looked economically viable. She also thanked Cllr Vickers for her support.

Cllr A Brown said that he wanted to speak as someone who was most affected by the structural damage that occurred in 2019. Personally, he said that he would also wish to see a resolution but agreed that it was a complex situation.

Cllr T FitzPatrick sought clarification on Cllr Brown's interest and whether it was pecuniary. He said if it was, then he would be disqualified from speaking. The Leader, Cllr Adams, said that Cllr Brown had an interest as he was a leaseholder for 9 Norwich Street and had been impacted by the situation. Cllr Brown declared that he had a pecuniary interest.

Cllr Adams said that it was not a budgetary consideration yet. The Council had very limited powers to secure the re-use or sale of a property and consent needed to be sought to any work undertaken to the site. He confirmed that the Council was intending to do more work on the front of the site to clean it up, with the freeholder's consent. He felt a solution was closer, adding that the building had been made structurally safe and there were ongoing discussions with the freeholder to seek sale of the site. In conclusion, he said that this site remained a priority for NNDC and said that he was happy to meet with the public speakers and any other residents to discuss their concerns.

## 118 PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2024 - 2025

The Leader, Cllr Adams, introduced this item. He explained that it was a statutory document and set out extensive details of the pay arrangements for senior officers. It was proposed by Cllr T Adams, seconded by Cllr L Shires and

## **RESOLVED**

To adopt the attached Pay Policy Statement and to publish the statement for 2024/2025 on the Council's website.

## 119 NON-DOMESTIC (BUSINESS) RATES POLICY 2024-25

Cllr L Shires, Portfolio Holder for Finance, introduced this item. She drew members' Cllr L Shires, Portfolio Holder for Finance, introduced this item. She drew members' attention to page 43 of the agenda which referenced the Discretionary Non Domestic Rates Relief Panel and said that it would be meeting on 18 March.

It was proposed by Cllr L Shires, seconded by Cllr T Adams and

# **RESOLVED**

- 1. That the Revenues Manager continues to have delegated authority to make decisions up to the NNDC cost value of £4k as indicated in Appendix A.
- 2. That the Revenues Manager has delegated authority to make Hardship Relief decisions up to the NNDC cost value of £4k as indicated in Appendix C.
- 3. That the Rate Relief Policy is revised as indicated in Appendix A, B and C. Rates Relief Panel and said that it would be meeting on 18 March.

# 120 RECOMMENDATIONS FROM CABINET 08 JANUARY 2024 AND 05 FEBRUARY 2024

Recommendations from Cabinet 08 January 2024

### Fees & Charges 2024 – 2025

Cllr L Shires introduced this item. She thanked Overview & Scrutiny Committee for their input and said that there would be a review of car parking charges in the next few months.

It was proposed by Cllr L Shires, seconded by Cllr T Adams and

# **RESOLVED** to approve

- The fees and charges from 1<sup>st</sup> April 2024 as included in Appendix A.
- That delegated authority be given to the Section 151 Officer, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance and relevant Directors/Assistant Director to agree the fees and charges not included within Appendix A as required (outlined within the report).

Recommendations from Cabinet 05 February 2024

# <u>Treasury Management Strategy 2024 – 2025</u>

Cllr L Shires introduced this item. She said that it had been to Overview & Scrutiny Committee twice as they requested training to ensure that members understood the strategy fully.

Cllr G Mancini-Boyle asked about the Council's investments and whether consideration was given to the human rights record of some of the regimes invested in – such as Hong Kong or Abu Dhabi, adding that he was aware of other councils that had taken this approach. Cllr Shires replied that her understanding was that the Government had instructed 'no boycotting' and that a Bill was currently progressing through Parliament to enshrine this in law.

It was proposed by Cllr L Shires, seconded by Cllr P Heinrich and

### **RESOLVED**

That the Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25 is approved.

Two members voted against.

# 121 RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14 FEBRUARY 2024

The Chairman of the Committee, Cllr N Dixon, said that the committee had considered the Budget 2024 – 2025 and he would speak about the recommendations when that item was debated.

# **122 BUDGET AND COUNCIL TAX 2024 - 2025**

The Chairman outlined the process to Members, explaining that there would be a number of recorded votes. She then invited the Chief Financial Officer to explain the

robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the reserves, as required to do by statute.

The Chief Financial Officer (Director for Resources and Section 151 Officer) began by referring members to pages 147, section 3 of the agenda, which provided details of the process which had been carried out in preparing the Budget for presentation to Full Council. She explained that in formulating her opinion, she had considered the 2022/2023 Outturn position, the current forecast outturn position for 2023/2024 and the Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and funding available and the budgets required for future years. She had also looked at the cashflow which had been monitored throughout the year. The details in Appendix G listed all the considerations and the assessments taken into account to maintain the optimum level of reserves. In conclusion, she said that she was satisfied that that the proposed Budget for 2024/2025 was robust and that the level of reserves were adequate.

The Chairman then invited the Portfolio Holder for Finance & Assets, Cllr L Shires to introduce the Budget for 2024/2025. Cllr Shires began by saying that the main priority when setting the budget had been to maintain key services to residents and she was pleased to present a balanced budget for working families. She then drew members' attention to the investments that the Council had made for its residents, including £12.7m in the Reef Leisure Centre, £2m on public conveniences, £4.9m on new refuse collection vehicles, £2.5m on providing temporary accommodation and £560k on a solar car port. Cllr Shires said that there had been many external factors which had a significant impact on the Council's finances in the last year such as the ongoing legacy of the Covid pandemic, labour shortages, rising inflation and a surge in demand for council services which had caused a £600K shortfall in the temporary accommodation budget.

Cllr Shires spoke about the new Corporate Plan and said that all members had been invited to attend workshops to ensure that there was cross-party engagement and input. She then thanked the Overview & Scrutiny Committee for their work in shaping the budget. There had been a £1.8m gap when the budget was first presented to the committee in December 2023. The delay in the progress of the Levelling Up Bill through Parliament had added to this as it meant that the 100% premium on second homes council tax could not be introduced until April 2025, instead of the expected date of April 2024, effectively increasing the deficit by £550k for the forthcoming year.

Cllr Shires thanked officers for their support in rising to the challenges presented to them in achieving considerable savings to ensure that the Council could present a balanced budget. Many of the income generating proposals that had been proposed were now being brought forward, together with savings suggestions which together totalled £975k. She said that that there was £250k of savings yet to be identified but that the S151 Officer was confident that these could be achieved.

Further funding had been announced by the Government, following significant lobbying by local authorities. This meant that the amount that would need to be taken from reserves was lower than initially anticipated. The Local Government Finance Settlement (LGFS) indicated that District Councils were expected to increase council tax by the highest amount. The budget included an increase of £4.95 for a Band D property. She explained that for each £1 collected, only 8 pence went to the district. Cllr Shires said that further capital investment of over £3m was being committed. This included £1.75m to 'our greener future', with projects at Holt Country Park and Victory Leisure centre benefitting from considerable investment. She outlined other key projects that would benefit from significant funding and

reiterated the Administration's commitment to supporting local communities. She then highlighted the recent funding awarded by the Levelling Up programme which was in addition to the agreed capital programme and said it would bring much needed leisure facilities to Fakenham.

In conclusion, Cllr Shires said that the Council faced considerable financial uncertainty in the coming years and the base budget for 2024/2025 and the following year showed a considerable deficit. Action was already underway through a series of service reviews in the coming financial year to achieve further savings. She assured everyone that these would be navigated very carefully. She thanked the S151 Officer and the Finance Team for their hard work and support.

The Budget 2024/2025 was proposed by Cllr L Shires. Cllr T Adams seconded the proposal.

The Chairman then invited the Leader of the main Opposition Group, Cllr C Cushing to respond. He began by thanking the S151 Officer and her team for their hard work in preparing the budget and for meeting with his Group to answer questions. He then congratulated Cllr Shires on her budget presentation.

Cllr Cushing said that the Administration had been complacent about the Council's financial situation. It had been forecast in 2020 that there would be a deficit and when he had asked at the time about plans to address the shortfall and was told not to worry as there had always been predicted shortfalls and they had not materialised. Cllr Cushing had suggested then and at every budget setting meeting since that a wise administration would prepare for the best and plan for the worst. He added that what was particularly striking about this Budget was that there was still no strategy to address future deficits.

Cllr Cushing said that everyone agreed that a long-term solution was needed for local government funding to provide certainty in the years ahead. It was widely acknowledged that demands on council resources had increased considerably due to the global pandemic and international financial pressures and it was likely that this squeeze would continue for the foreseeable future. He accepted that the Council had to deal with the challenges presented by demands for temporary accommodation but said that first tier authorities had huge additional pressures to respond to.

Cllr Cushing then referred to the £250k of savings that were yet to be confirmed. He said that this was the first time the Council had been asked to approve unquantifiable savings and this caused considerable concern as all savings proposals should be fully costed and considered by members.

Referring to council tax, he said that his group would once again oppose any increase. He accepted it was a necessity for the County Council to seek an increase but did not believe that taxpayers should be asked to pay any more at district level. Cllr Cushing then spoke about the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and said that a good one would aim to pull together in one place all of the factors affecting the financial position of the council in the medium term. It should be a living document that goes into some depth, however, it just covered one page within the Budget report. He said that it was not the responsibility of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee to set out everything that should be included in the MTFS, the Cabinet should be able to prepare a comprehensive document, as had been done in the past. He went onto say that a deficit of £1.8m was forecast for 2025/26 and £3m for 2026/2027. Such estimates should be faced with dread and he was astonished that

financial sustainability was not a core theme within the Corporate Plan and it was an abdication of responsibility.

Cllr Cushing said that the Opposition had put forward several suggestions in the past to improve the budget, including working with the other districts across the County on shared ventures. To date, only the waste contract operated on this basis. He referred to the savings made by Broadland and South Norfolk District Councils when they joined forces. Cllr Cushing said that sharing of IT support and services could bring huge benefits and he believed there must be many more examples.

Moving onto the capital programme, he said that there were now 84 items listed and this was too large. Some had been carried over year after year with no real challenge. He said that the new addition of Holt Country Park stood out, with almost £0.5m due to be spent and he questioned how this was justifiable. He said that the Council should be prioritising mandatory services not those that were discretionary and 'nice to have'. He added that once again, there was a heavy focus on Cromer and Sheringham and said that the approach should be more equitable, with Stalham in particular, needing more investment as did rural communities across the district.

In conclusion, Cllr Cushing said that this was an administration that had become complacent about budget setting and the poorly developed MTFS showed that there were no plans to address the huge challenges ahead.

The Chairman invited Cllr Fitch-Tillett, leader of the Independent Group to respond to the Budget. She said that she had been ill in recent weeks and had not had the opportunity to study it in detail and therefore had no comment to make at this time but that she was impressed by Cllr Cushing's response.

The Chairman then invited the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Cllr Shires to respond to the Opposition Leaders' comments. Cllr Shires began by saying that when the Budget for 2018 – 2019 had been presented there had also been forecast deficits and that was during a Conservative Administration. Regarding the MTFS, she said it was not clear what members wanted. She had always offered to work with the Overview & Scrutiny Committee and welcomed their input. Cllr Shires said that just 6 years ago, opposition members had been in exactly the same position, facing a deficit and having to consider an increase in council tax. The Government strongly encouraged local taxation and it was one of the limited options available to raise income when there was so little support from central government.

The Chairman invited Cllr Cushing to reply. He said that the last Conservative administration had increased the Council's reserves considerably as they had the foresight to see the financial challenges ahead and the current administration was now benefitting from this. Referring to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, he said that 95% of the analysis and work undertaken was done by the Opposition members, adding that Cabinet should have ideas about what should be included in an MTFS.

Cllr Fitch-Tillett said that she did not wish to make a further response.

The Chairman advised members that an amendment to the Budget had been submitted. The S151 Officer confirmed that she had reviewed it and it was valid. The Chairman invited Cllr Dr V Holliday, proposer of the amendment to introduce it.

# **Amendment - Sustainable Communities Fund**

This amendment proposes that the Sustainable Communities Fund is retained with

an annual funding of £130,000. The funding for this will need to be found either from future revenue or the Reserves.

The Sustainable Communities Fund, which was previously known as the Big Society Fund, has existed for several years. The aim of this fund is to help build strong and sustainable communities and ensure the long term future and wellbeing of our communities here in North Norfolk.

Sustainable Communities is defined as places in which people want to live and work, now and in the future. They meet the diverse needs of existing and future residents, are sensitive to their environment, and contribute to a good and sustainable quality of life.

The fund helps communities to develop new and innovative projects which will improve their environment as well as their health and social wellbeing. The fund assists communities in meeting their needs, with funding available for both capital and revenue projects that meet the fund's criteria.

The grants are administered by a Grants Panel made up of seven elected members, that meet four times a year to award grants of between £1,000 and £15,000.

The fund particularly benefits smaller communities which find it hard to raise funds for projects. Small parishes make a large proportion of our district, and unlike the market towns, tend not to benefit from capital spending projects.

It is understood that there is significant pressure on council finances this year. However, this is a relatively small sum in the context of the whole budget, yet it delivers a disproportionately large benefit to our residents. Over the last few years, dozens of payments have been made which have totalled hundreds of thousands of pounds which have done an enormous amount of good for many people. In addition, it is harder to resurrect the fund once it is closed'.

Cllr Holliday said that in the previous financial year, grants totalling £115k had been awarded to a diverse range of organisations. She urged members to support the amendment.

Cllr T FitzPatrick seconded the amendment and reserved his right to speak.

The Chairman invited the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Cllr Shires to respond. She said that she had sympathy with Cllr FitzPatrick's desire to keep the Fund going and she really would have liked to continue the Fund and she thanked Cllr Holliday for highlighting the worthiness of the grants that had been awarded. Unfortunately, as the amendment was not fully funded and a specific reserve had not been identified, she could not support it, adding that she would very much like to see it reinstated in the future.

Cllr S Penfold, Chairman of the North Norfolk Sustainable Communities Fund Grants Panel. He thanked Cllr Holliday for the amendment which outlined the great work of the Fund. He thanked all members who had served on the Panel and its predecessor, the Big Society Fund. He thanked the officers who had supported the Fund from the beginning for their hard work. Cllr Penfold said that the problem with the amendment was that it was not fully funded and therefore it was difficult to support. He added that the Big Society Fund had initially been funded by second homes council tax money that was returned to NNDC by the County Council (NCC).

This was later withdrawn by NCC and he suggested that one way forward would be for the Group Leaders to jointly sign a letter to Norfolk County Council requesting the retention of this money.

Cllr J Punchard said that he remembered the establishment of the original Big Society Fund (BSF) and that he had been concerned so see the removal of the Local Area Partnership (LAPs). However, he was pleased to say that he was wrong and that the Administration at the time had delivered on its promise to residents to provide funding directly to local projects via the BSF. He was therefore concerned to see the loss of the NNSCF Grants Fund.

Cllr P Heinrich said that funding for the NNSCF had been taken from the UK Shared Prosperity Fund in the last year. Regrettably there were other areas that had to be covered by the UKSPF to ensure the funding criteria were met. However, the Rural Prosperity Fund (RPF) provided specific capital funding for community group infrastructure projects and heritage groups. The range was between £10 – 15k and it was administered via the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP). In addition, there was funding for communities affected by cable laying for the wind farms which was provided by the wind farm operators such as Vattenfall. He concluded by saying that there was funding available for small communities but agreed that he was supportive of the NNSCF being brought back at a future date.

Cllr N Dixon said that the NNSCF helped to fill an equality gap. It was a modest but highly effective scheme and if there was any way it could be continued then the Council should do so.

Cllr L Withington said that no one wanted to see the NNSCF go. She reiterated that it had been funded by second homes council tax initially and that there had been a push for a sliding scale of reduction. She added that the UKSPF provided larger sums of funding and said that she too was hopeful of the NNSCF returning in the future.

Cllr E Vardy said that it was time the Administration had a vision and made a commitment to the smaller communities in the district.

Cllr J Toye spoke said that the NNSCF had already been maintained for a considerable number of years, despite the drop in funding from NCC. He said that he agreed that the amendment was uncosted and therefore he could not support it.

Cllr T Adams said that as soon as a source for the funding of the NNSCF could be identified it would be reintroduced. In the meantime, the Council would promote other sources of grant funding available. He agreed with Cllr Penfold that the Council needed to retain a share of the second homes council tax and he was willing to work cross-party to achieve this.

Cllr C Cushing said that he had been trying to obtain information on how UKSPF and the RPF funds were allocated but it was not clear what the criteria were. In addition, the NNSCF awarded small sums of money which achieved a large amount of good. The national funds focussed on awarding larger amounts.

Cllr T FitzPatrick seconded the amendment. He said that the S151 Officer had advised that there were adequate reserves in place to continue to fund the NNSCF. Like Cllr Punchard, when former member, Trevor Ivory, proposed establishing the Big Society Fund, he had been sceptical and had been proven wrong. He reiterated Cllr Cushing's comment that there was money available elsewhere but it was aimed

at larger projects not smaller, community based schemes. The NNSCF gave benefit across the whole of the district, it was not just about the money, it also provided community cohesion.

Cllr FitzPatrick went onto say that the share of second homes council tax funding from NCC had been £1m in 2013/14 confirmed until 2017/18. Unfortunately, pressure from parish councils to have a share of this money resulted in it being taken away from the districts. He urged all members who represented smaller communities across the district to support the amendment.

Cllr L Shires said that the cessation of funding was temporary and it was hoped that it could get up and running again at some point. She reiterated that she could not support the amendment as it had no clear indication of where the funding would come from.

A recorded vote was taken for the amendment. Fourteen members voted in favour and twenty against. The amendment was therefore not supported.

The Chairman then opened the debate on the Budget 2024/2025:

Cllr J Toye said that this was a tough budget, however, no alternatives had been put forward and members now needed to work collaboratively to achieve the best outcomes for residents.

Cllr M Taylor said that he wanted to focus on Stalham. Yet again it had been overlooked and residents were tired of it not being valued or invested in. In the capital programme, Stalham was allocated £20k which indicated the disregard in which it was held. He said that recently, following closure of the high street for resurfacing works, he had asked the Administration to provide free parking during the duration of the closure, which had been refused. He said that if they weren't willing to pay just £700 to do this, then they clearly didn't care.

Cllr N Dixon said that the budget for 2024/2025 was a product of long-term complacency which was based on a past reliance of central government funding to close any forecast gaps. He commented on the huge list of capital bids, specifically the significant amount allocated to Holt Country Park and said that there was still much to be defined and refined

Cllr K Bayes said that he fully endorsed Cllr Taylor's earlier comments regarding Stalham being overlooked.

Cllr T FitzPatrick said that the proposal to help small rural communities had been knocked out and the capital bids, including the one for Holt Country Park, were all for larger communities. It wasn't good enough and should be reviewed.

Cllr L Withington said that the level of financial commitment to Holt Country Park was a result of the lack of investment made by previous administrations. She added that it was important to provide safe, clean facilities for staff to use.

Cllr E Vardy said that as the Local Member for Holt, he was a frequent visitor to the country park and regularly spoke to residents. He said that none of them had ever mentioned the need to upgrade the facilities there and he was not supportive of spending such a huge amount of money.

The Chairman, Cllr S Butikofer, said that in 2019 an equal share of funding for the

seven market towns was delivered via the Market Towns Initiative (MTI) to be used as seed-funding for larger projects, however, not all of the towns used the money to its full potential. She then said that there had been a £2.4m deficit when there was a change of Administration in 2019, so it was not a new situation to deal with. In conclusion, she added that sharing services with neighbouring local authorities had been explored before and it had not gone well.

Cllr Cushing said that the Chairman should remain impartial throughout the debate and not make political comments.

Before moving to the vote, the Chairman invited the Chairman of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee to speak about the committee's assessment of the Budget. Cllr Dixon began by explaining that the Budget had come to the committee for prescrutiny on 24<sup>th</sup> January. At that time the committee made reference to the need for a public consultation on the proposals, the importance of contingency funding and the need to start the budget planning process much earlier in the year.

Then, on 14<sup>th</sup> February, the Budget was presented to the committee again. This time there was reference to £250k of savings that were yet to be agreed and the meeting had to go into closed session to consider them. The following recommendations were made:

- (A) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the list of proposed savings, the use of reserves and the setting of a savings target and made no additional recommendations to full Council on the combination to include in the Budget for 2024/25 for full Council to consider when it meets on 21 February 2024 to set a balanced budget for 2024/25, subject to noting that due to an additional £305,000 being received from the Government in its final Local Government Finance Settlement for 2024/25, the additional use of reserves to balance the budget for 2024/25 would now be £111,000 and not £416,000,
- (B) the Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviewed the proposed Capital Programme and new capital bids and made no changes to the list set out in the report

The Chairman then asked the seconder of the Budget, Cllr T Adams to speak.

Cllr Adams began by saying that he was keen to develop projects in Stalham but the Council could not be expected to cover the cost of the impact of NCC works. He said that he did not accept the comments regarding Holt Country Park. The diesel generator was reaching the end of its life and an energy efficient replacement would help towards achieving Net Zero. He went onto say that there had been no amendments to the capital programme which did not reflect the concerns being raised about it tonight. He said that the proposed Budget had been to Overview & Scrutiny Committee three times now, with no major recommendations coming forward.

Cllr Adams said that the £600k of additional temporary accommodation costs, together with rising inflation had presented a challenge in financial terms but the Council remained free from external debts and this was to be applauded. Regarding reserves, he said that the Government had been clear that councils should be drawing on them where that was feasible. In conclusion, Cllr Adams said that the allegation of complacency just wasn't true. If that was the case then every council across the country was also complacent. So many councils were spending huge amounts of money on dealing with homelessness. Consequently nearly every council was raising council tax and he urged the Government to properly fund local

government and recognise how relevant it is to the provision of local services.

The Chairman then asked Cllr Shires to conclude the debate. She began by thanking members for their contributions and said that she was pleased to propose a balanced budget that had the ultimate goal of providing high quality services whilst maintaining financial responsibility. The Council continued to face stark external challenges but she was confident in its ability to move forwards, whilst remaining fully committed to supporting residents.

The Chairman advised members that there would be a recorded vote. Cllr Cushing requested that the votes were split as follows: recommendations 1,2,3,6,8 and 9 en bloc and then recommendations 4 and 7 together and recommendation 5 separately.

The outcome of the votes was as follows:

- Recommendations 1,2,3,6,8 and 9 32 members voted in favour and two against. The recommendations were therefore carried.
- Recommendations 4 and 7 21 members voted in favour, 2 against and 11 abstained. The recommendations were therefore carried.
- Recommendation 5 21 members voted in favour and 13 against. The recommendation was therefore carried.

It was proposed by Cllr L Shires, seconded by Cllr T Adams and

## **RESOLVED**

That having considered the Chief Finance Officer's report on the robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves, the following be approved:

- 1) The 2024/25 revenue budget as outlined at Appendix A;
- 2) The statement of identified savings as detailed in Appendix B,
- 3) The statement of and movement in the reserves as detailed at Appendix C;
- 4) The updated Capital Programme and financing for 2023/24 to 2027/28 as shown in Appendix D;
- 5) The new capital bids recommended for approval as detailed at Appendix E;
- 6) That Members note the current financial projections for the period 2025/26 to 2027/28 that form the Medium Term Financial Strategy and as detailed in paragraphs 3.10 to 3.14 and Appendix A.
- 7) That Members note and consider the results of the Budget Consultation exercise which are contained in the paper circulated to Members and which will be included as an Appendix to the meeting's minutes when published.
- 8) The Policy Framework for the Earmarked Reserves and the Optimum Level of the General Fund Reserve of £2.1m for 2024/25 to 2026/27 as detailed in paragraphs 3.35 to 3.72 and in Appendix G;
- 9) The Local Council Tax Support Scheme (LCTS) for 2024/25 as set out in

## paragraphs 3.16 to 3.23;

The Chairman invited the Section 151 Officer to outline the different elements of the Council tax recommendations. She explained that Appendix F to the report set out the statutory calculations for the council tax bases.

The Chairman advised members that, at the request of Cllr Cushing, two recorded votes would be taken – for recommendations 10 and 11b en bloc and 11a separately.

A recorded vote was taken for recommendation 10 and 11b, with members unanimously voting in favour.

A recorded vote was then taken on recommendation 11a, with 21 members voting in favour and 13 against. The recommendation was therefore supported.

It was proposed by Cllr L Shires, seconded by Cllr T Adams and

### **RESOLVED**

- 10) That Members undertake the Council Tax and statutory calculations set out at Appendix F, and set the Council Tax for 2024/25;
- 11) The demand on the Collection Fund for 2024/25 is as follows:
  - a. £6,995,942 for District purposes
  - b. £3,129,194 for Parish/Town Precepts;

### 123 PORTFOLIO REPORTS

Cllr M Taylor asked Cllr A Brown, Portfolio Holder for Planning, to confirm whether the Council collected fees for giving out pre-application advice. Cllr Brown confirmed that it did.

Cllr J Boyle asked Cllr C Ringer, Portfolio Holder for Environmental and Waste Services for an update on the introduction of a food waste collection service. Cllr Ringer said that the Council was still waiting for confirmation of funding from central Government. To date, only about half of the required funding had been offered. No funding had been allocated for communal waste collection bins or for depots required for the vehicles for possible transfer stations. He added that the Council was having ongoing discussions with DEFRA regarding the provision of evidence that more funding was required. He said that he hoped that progress could be made soon as the Council would like to proceed with food waste collection as soon as possible.

Cllr G Mancini-Boyle asked Cllr A Varley, Portfolio Holder for Climate Change & Net Zero, about the level of reserves set aside to achieve Net Zero by 2030. He said that the Reserves Statement for 2024/25 showed that £500k had been allocated to Net Zero initiatives but given that it had cost £92k to upgrade the lights in the Council Offices, he queried whether this would be enough and also asked if there were business cases for these projects. Cllr Varley replied that the Council remained fully committed to its Net Zero target and confirmed that there would be business cases going forward. Cllr Varley said that although he welcomed the progress already made, substantial projects would be needed to ensure that the ambitious target of achieving Net Zero by 2030 was reached. Projects such as the solar panels at the swimming pool in North Walsham were a good example of this. He added that there

was the possibility of leveraging external funding too. Cllr Mancini-Boyle replied that he felt the Administration's approach was unrealistic and not achievable. He said it was not possible that £500k a year would cover the cost of de-carbonising the district.

Cllr L Vickers asked Cllr T Adams, Leader, for an update on 9 Norwich Street, Fakenham. She asked when the Administration would stop procrastinating and if they would commit to taking a decision regarding the site by the end of the financial year. Cllr Adams replied that a position had been taken but that the Council did not own the property and it needed to work with the freeholder to secure the site. He added that it was intended that work would be carried out to the front of the building shortly. However, for the reasons just set out, he could not commit to a timescale, adding that it was a very complex case with additional obligations due to its listed status.

Cllr M Batey asked Cllr T Adams, the Leader, for an update on the Banking Hub in Holt. Cllr Adams replied that he was delighted that Holt had been successful in its bid to have a banking hub and he was convinced that it would be busy. The next stage would be to secure a location for the hub in Holt and he added that the Council would continue to explore similar options for the other towns in the district.

Cllr K Bayes asked Cllr A Brown about a recent Freedom of Information request submitted by a resident of Stalham which indicated that a developer of two major sites in the town had received formal written advice from the Council's Planning Team but had not been charged for it. He asked Cllr Brown to respond to these allegations and whether he would agree to meet with the two ward members to discuss them further. Cllr Brown said that he would provide a written response and if Cllr Bayes and Cllr Taylor were not satisfied with the reply he would meet with them.

Cllr J Toye asked Cllr L Withington, Portfolio Holder for Leisure, about the Fakenham Leisure and Sports Hub and whether there was an update. Cllr Withington replied that there had been several design meetings with architects and stakeholder groups. Officers had also visited a leisure facility in Leicestershire which was a very similar project, in that it had 'bolted' a wet facility onto an existing dry facility. The learning from this was being fed back to the design team. Cllr Withington said that pre-tender contract engagement workshops were being set up to ensure local engagement and the provision of local economic benefits too.

Cllr T FitzPatrick said that his ward adjoined Fakenham and residents used the facilities in the town. He said that if nothing was done to address the issues at 9 Norwich Street, would Cllr Adams agree to find the funds to serve a notice to do the work on the owners or pursue a CPO. Cllr Adams reiterated that everything was being done to progress the situation at 9 Norwich Street. He said that a CPO was not a straightforward process and a lot of preparation had to done. He added that the Council had already ensured that the building was structurally sound. The Council could not speak for the landowner and that made it particularly challenging. He said that if local members required any additional information then officers would be happy provide it.

Cllr P Fisher asked Cllr Ringer about the new waste collection rounds that would be coming into effect in the coming months. Cllr Ringer said that the plans were progressing well and that there was a briefing for members on 13<sup>th</sup> March. Representatives from Serco would be in attendance and each ward member would receive an information pack setting out the changes in their ward. The Communications Team was starting the process for informing residents regarding

124	EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC	
125	PRIVATE BUSINESS	
The m	eeting ended at 9.09 pm.	
		Chairman

the changes. He encouraged all members to attend the briefing and ensure that they were informed as possible.